Nnited States Denate

WASHINGTON, DC 20510

January 12, 2021

Warden David Ortiz

Bureau of Prisons

FCI Fort Dix

5756 Hartford & Pointvile Road
Joint Base MDL, New Jersey 08640

Dear Warden Ortiz,

We write today with serious concerns regarding the use of home confinement, as well as overall
conditions at FCI Fort Dix, especially in light of the alarming rate of COVID-19 cases at the
facility in recent weeks. On March 26, 2020, in an effort to protect incarcerated individuals who
were at greater risk of contracting the deadly coronavirus, Attorney General William Barr issued
a Memorandum' to the Director of the Bureau of Prisons (BOP) to ensure that the agency
prioritizes the home confinement program to protect the health and safety of incarcerated
individuals and BOP employees. The following week, Attorney General Barr issued a
subsequent Memorandum? that urged BOP administrators at facilities significantly impacted by
the virus to immediately maximize transfers of individuals to home confinement.

In June 2020, during a Senate Judiciary Committee hearing, Senator Booker pressed Director
Michael Carvajal about the difficulty of obtaining critical data on individuals who were released
to home confinement in New Jersey. While Director Carvajal assured Senator Booker that he
would attempt to get his office this important information,’ the requested data has still not been
received. While we appreciate you and your staff briefing our offices on the COVID-19
outbreaks at FCI Fort Dix, and for your continued correspondence on some of the outstanding
facts and figures our offices have requested, there are still questions to be answered in addition to
those raised by the two subsequent letters we sent to Director Carvajal.*
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The conditions at facilities in New Jersey, specifically your facility, have grown increasingly
worrisome. We are still very concerned for the safety and well-being of individuals behind bars
in New Jersey and across our country. It is critical that you prioritize the use of your statutory
authorities to grant home confinement to as many eligible people as possible. To better
understand your institution’s implementation of the congressionally approved home confinement
program, as well as Attorney General Barr’s orders to prioritize home confinement to protect
individuals behind bars and staff from the deadly coronavirus, we request that you respond to the
following questions:

Home Confinement Program: The Attorney General’s Memorandum laid out discretionary
factors to be considered when assessing an individual’s eligibility for home confinement and
called for BOP officials to make broad, extensive use of the program for all eligible individuals.
It remains to be seen, however, whether federal prisons have implemented the program as
Congress and the Attorney General intended.

1. On November 9, 2020, you estimated that between April 16 and November 9, 2020, FCI
Fort Dix had released approximately 97 people to home confinement under the CARES
Act. At the time, this constituted less than 3.5% of the total incarcerated population at
FCI Fort Dix, which is a low and minimum security prison. Among the 97 released
individuals, 66% were white, 29% were Black, 3% were Asian, 2% were Native
American. According to information from BOP, the overall makeup of the population of
FCI Fort Dix is 51% white, 47% Black, 1% Asian, and .4% Native American. How do
you explain these discrepancies?

2. How many individuals are currently eligible to be transferred to home confinement?

3. In your assessment of an individual’s eligibility for release under the home confinement
program, you mentioned that factors such as disciplinary history, PATTERN score, and
their living conditions upon release weigh into your decision. Please share the underlying
offense for every individual denied release, as well as their disciplinary history,
PATTERN score, and their stated living condition upon release anonymized to protect
the privacy of incarcerated individuals.

4. How many individuals at FCI Fort Dix are ineligible for home confinement?

5. You informed our office that 1,036 incarcerated individuals have a “history of violence”,
and 588 have an “instant offense of violence”. Please provide an explanation for both
terms and the difference between the two. How does your facility weigh these

classifications for purposes for determining eligibility for home confinement?

5. T understand that you received a list from BOP of individuals to initially screen for home
confinement.

a. How many individuals were on that list?



b. How many of those individuals were approved for home confinement?
c. How many of those individuals were denied transfer to home confinement?

d. What is the process for an individual to appeal their denial for home confinement?
e. How many initial applicants that were rejected appealed?

f.  What is the success rate on appeal?

What is the process for any individual who feels they may be eligible for home
confinement, but was not included on the initial list provided by BOP?

We have heard from constituents at FCI Fort Dix that it could take months to be approved
and then transferred to home confinement. On average, how much time does it take to
identify, review, and release an individual under the home confinement program?

How many individuals at your facility have been transferred to home confinement from
March 2020 until the present?

a. How many individuals have been denied home confinement during that period?
Please provide our offices with a report on the age, race, and offense(s) of the
individuals who were denied home confinement.

Are individuals who are transferred to home confinement provided with reentry resources
to connect to local agencies and nonprofits? If so, please provide additional details on
what resources are provided to individuals transferred to home confinement.

Medical Care at FCI Fort Dix: The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention guidance says
to avoid large gatherings and social distance, however, the conditions of confinement do not
allow incarcerated individuals to engage in many of the recommended precautions necessary to
propery protect themselves. In fact, we know that individuals are grouped in cohorts that could
include hundreds of people in close proximity to each other throughout the day. Due to the ease
and speed with which COVID-19 can spread, we must ensure that facilities are safe and clean for
those who aren’t released to home confinement. For those individuals who have tested positive
for the virus and require medical care, we have serious concerns about whether the medical care
available on-site can adequately treat this complex virus.

1.

2.

How often do incarcerated individuals and staff receive new PPE?

What is the protocol at your facility to ensure that there is enough PPE, hand sanitizer,
and soap for individuals and staftf?

How much PPE do you currently have in stock?

Has FCI Fort Dix taken measures to allow for proper social distancing and minimization
of contact between groups of incarcerated indviduals in line with CDC guidance?



5. On a prior call with some of our staff, you mentioned dormitory style arrangements on
each floor that grouped individuals into cohorts. Some floors house about 100
individuals, while other floors could have as many as several hundred individuals.

a. Please elaborate on this set-up in more detail.

b. At the present time, how many cohorts of individuals are on each floor, in each
compound?

6. What are you doing to ensure that all individuals in cohorts are COVID-19 negative?
a. What is the procedure for re-testing individuals in cohorts for COVID-19?

7. What is your procedure for quarantining individuals who have tested positive for
COVID-19?

a. Please describe the space and conditions in which COVID-19 positive individuals
are isolated.

b. Are individuals under medical isolation placed in the segregated housing units? If
s0, how are you ensuring that medical isolation is operationally and noticeably
distinct from those who are placed in segregated housing units?

c. How often do individuals in medical isolation have access to medical staff?

8. Please describe the types of treatments and care available to individuals who have tested
positive for COVID-19.

a. Are they treated on site or are they transferred to an outside treatment center? If
they are transferred to an outside treatment center, please detail where individuals
are transferred to?

b. If an individual experiences symptoms (e.g., low oxygen levels) that may require
critical care, are they treated on site or transferred to a local hospital?

c. What kind of drugs are administered to incarcerated patients who are suffering
from COVID-19?

d. Are local officials provided updates on conditions within the facility to ensure
public safety? If so, please describe how often and what kind of information is
shared and with whom.

This pandemic is challenging for us all, including those who are incarcerated and their loved
ones. We urge you to use your authority to transfer individuals who are at risk of suffering
complications from the virus to home confinement.



Thank you for your time and consideration. We look forward to your prompt attention to this
matter.

Sincerely,
Cory A. Booker Robert Menendez heed
United States Senator United States Senator



